### ORIGINAL

JANETTE M. BLOOM

DEPUTY CLARK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA No. 47130 FILED **BRENDAN JAMES NASBY** Appellant NOV 2 8 2006 vs. THE STATE OF NEVADA Respondent. Appeal from District Court's Denial of Post-Conviction Writ of Habeas Corpus APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ANTHONY P. SGRO, ESQ. Nevada State Bar No. 3811 Patti, Sgro & Lewis 720 South 7<sup>th</sup> Street, Suite 300 La Vegas, Nevada 89101 Attorneys for Appellant 



### **

### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- I. WHETHER THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT VIOLATED PETITIONER'S RIGHTS UNDER THE FOURTH, FIFTH, SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I SECTION 8 OF THE NEVADA CONSTITUTION.
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRONEOUSLY ALLOWED THE INTRODUCTION OF PRIOR BAD ACTS EVIDENCE AND FAILED TO PROPERLY INSTRUCT THE JURY ON MULTIPLE CRITICAL ISSUES IN VIOLATION OF THE FOURTH, FIFTH, SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.
- III. WHETHER INEFFECTIVE TRIAL AND APPELLATE COUNSEL VIOLATED NASBY'S RIGHT TO COUNSEL UNDER THE UNITED STATES AND NEVADA CONSTITUTIONS.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 11,1998, Brendan James Nasby (hereinafter referred to as "Nasby"), was charged by Criminal Complaint with Conspiracy to Commit Murder and Murder with Use of Deadly Weapon. After a trial by jury in the Eighth Judicial District Court, which began on October 13, 1999, Nasby was found guilty of all counts. Subsequently, a penalty hearing was held. The Court imposed a maximum term of 120 months with a minimum of 48 months for Count I Conspiracy to Commit Murder and one life sentence with the possibility of parole for Count II Murder with the use of a Deadly Weapon, plus an equal and consecutive term of life with the possibility for use of a deadly weapon. The Judgment of Conviction was filed on December 2, 1999.

Nasby appealed to the Nevada Supreme Court which upheld his sentence and conviction in an affirming opinion filed on February 7, 2001. On November 17, 2004, Nasby filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus post-conviction with the District Court. After an evidentiary hearing and further argument, the lower Court denied Nasby's petition on March 27, 2006. The instant appeal followed.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

### A. Overview

On the night of July 16, 1998, around 10:30 p.m., appellant Nasby, Jeremiah Deskin, Tommie Burnside, and Jotee Burnside, all members of the LA Crazy Rider's gang, were at the Appellant's home. Jeremiah Deskin, Jotee Burnside, and Tommie Burnside drove to Michael

-1-

Beasley's home at approximately 10:00 p.m. Mr. Michael Beasley, (hereinafter Beasley) also a member of the LA Crazy Riders, would ultimately be shot and killed in the desert that night. Deskin and the Burnside brothers found Beasley at his home with his six month-old baby. Deskin and the Burnside Brothers lured Beasley to go for a ride under the pretense that they would drive into the desert to shoot a new gun and smoke marijuana. Beasley asked his aunt to watch the baby, while he went with his friends.

Mr. Deskin testified tentatively that in June of 1998, some conversation took place in which Nasby asked the gang members whether Beasley should be killed. This conversation allegedly took place approximately one month prior to Mr. Beasley's death. When directly asked whether he had a say about Beasley being killed, Deskin stated: "No, I was never asked." (T.T., Vol. III., pages 78 & 79; Appellant's Appendix "AA," Vol. 2, p. 364).

Deskin testified that after picking up Beasley, the four men drove to Nasby's home and picked him up. Nasby was picked up by the group and they drove to the desert. (T.T. Vol. III, p. 94, lines 8-11; AA, Vol. 2, p. 368). Once the group arrived at the desert, Deskin testified that he saw Nasby shoot Beasley. (T.T. Vol. III, p. 101, lines 19-20; AA, Vol. 2, p. 369). Then Deskin, the Burnside Brothers, and Nasby drove back to Nasby's house. (T.T. Vol. III, p. 109, lines 2 - 5, AA, Vol. 2, p. 371). Nasby has always maintained that he was not in the desert and that he was not involved in the murder.

Police interviewed both Jotee and Tommie Burnside, who told the police the shooter was Damien Von Lewis aka "Sugar Bear." Mr. Von Lewis was also a member of the LA Crazy Riders. (T.T., Vol. V, p. 109, line 3, p. 110, line 17 and p. 128, lines 12-18; AA Vol. 3, p. 547, 548, 552). After negotiating deals with the State, the Burnside Brothers changed their statements and implicated Nasby in the shooting.

On or about August 4, 1998, the police executed a search warrant on the residence of Nasby. (T.T. Vol. IV., p. 148, lines 14-21; AA, Vol. 3, p. 479). Mr. Nasby was arrested at that time. Mr. Nasby voluntarily showed Detective Buczek a nine millimeter pistol. (T.T. Vol. IV., p. 153, lines 9-16; AA, Vol. 3, p. 480). Nasby told the officers that he had purchased the weapon after the death of Beasley from an individual named "Sugar Bear." (T.T. Vol. IV., p. 154, lines 19-21; AA, Vol. 3,

p. 481). In fact, Detective Buczek stated that Nasby was cooperative with him and not disruptive or violent in any way. (T.T. Vol. IV, page 154, lines 3-5; AA, Vol. 3, p. 481).

The weapon was later identified as the murder weapon. (T.T., Vol. V., p. 29, lines 8-18, AA, Vol. 3, p. 527). Nasby's fingerprints were not found on the murder weapon. (T.T. Vol. IV, p. 97, lines 2-15; AA, Vol. 3, p. 544). At the crime scene, in addition to bullet casings, the crime scene analyst impounded three Winston cigarette butts and photographed two footwear impressions. (T.T. Vol. V., p. 244, lines 1-3; p. 245, lines 18-22 and p. 246, lines 12-20; AA, Vol. 3, p. 582).

When the police executed the search warrant at the Nasby residence, the crime scene analyst impounded and photographed approximately seven pairs of shoes. (T.T. Vol. IV., p. 74, lines 10-20; AA, Vol. 3, p. 461). The shoes seized from Nasby's residence did not match the footwear impressions at the scene of the murder. (T.T. Vol. IV, p. 97, lines 16-20; AA, Vol. 3, p. 466).

The crime scene analyst also retrieved multiple cigarette butts from the Nasby residence. They were Kool, Benson & Hedges and a generic brand. No Winston cigarettes were found in the Nasby residence. (T.T. Vol. IV., p. 75, line 12; p. 76, line 1; AA, Vol. 3, p. 461).

### B. The Trial

### 1. State's Case

On October 11, 1999 through October 18, 1999 the Defendant's jury trial took place. Seventeen witnesses were called by the State. The following summarizes the evidence put forth by the State to support its case-in-chief:

- James Carroll, Sergeant for the Las Vegas Metro Police Department, testified that he arrived at the scene in his patrol car and found Mr. Beasley dead. He sealed off the area and called for the detectives.(T.T. Vol. III, p. 10, lines 16-22; AA, Vol. 2, 347).
  - Kelly Neil, Crime Scene Analyst for the Las Vegas Metro Police Department, testified that he found shiny cartridges and three Winston Cigarette butts that appeared new. He also found the partial footwear impressions. He photographed the scene and the victim. There were no finger prints found on the shell casings. (T.T., Vol. III, page 57, line 24, page 58,. Line 1; AA, Vol. 2, p. 358-359).

Jerimiah Deskin, a co-defendant in the matter, testified that there was a meeting in June of 1998, in which Nasby asked the members of the gang whether or not Beasley should be killed. (T.T. Vol. III, page 77, lines 3-7; AA. Vol. 2, p. 363). Deskin testified that on July 16, 1998, he was asked by Nasby to pick up Beasley "to shoot him." (T.T. Vol. III, page 80, lines 22-24, and page 81, lines 1-2; AA, Vol. 2, p. 364). Deskin testified that Nasby would forgive a \$100 debt if Deskin picked up Beasley. (T.T. Vol. III, page 82, lines 10-15; AA, Vol. 2, p. 365). Deskin testified that they were going to tell Beasley that they would go into the desert to smoke weed and shoot off Beasley's gun. (T.T. Vol. III, page 84, lines 8-10; AA, Vol 2., p. 365). Deskin testified that he saw Beasley's son, and that Beasley appeared proud of his baby son just before Deskin took him to the car. (T.T. Vol. III, page 88, lines 12-14; AA, Vol. 2, p. 366). Deskin testified that he witnessed Nasby shoot Beasley three times. (T.T. Vol. III, pages 101-106; AA, Vol. 2, p. 369-371). Deskin testified that he fled to California after the murder.

- Dr. Robert Jordan, a retired forensic pathologist who was the Clark County Coroner/Medical Examiner on July 18, 1998, testified that he conducted the autopsy and that Michael Beasley died from gunshot wounds to the head and chest. (TT, Vol III, page 170, lines 9-10; AA, Vol. 2, p. 387).
- Sheree Norman, Senior Crime Scene Analyst for the Las Vegas Metro Police Department, testified as to her documentation of the autopsy. She testified that she removed a projectile from between the victims skin and the shirt. (TT, Vol. III, page 214, lines 10-13; AA, Vol. 2, p. 398).
- Jomeka Beavers, victim Michael Beasley's aunt, testified that on July 16, 1998, she was living with her mother, step-father, and Michael Beasley. She testified that on July 16, 1998, she answered the phone and talked to a male, who requested to speak with Beasley. Beasley then asked his aunt to watch the baby for about 30 minutes while he went out with his friends. She testified that she saw Mr. Deskin pick up Beasley that evening.

- Tanesha Banks, former girl friend of the victim and the mother of the victim's child testified that Michael Beasley came to pick up his son for the child's first over night visit with his father on July 16, 1998. (T.T. Vol. IV., page 9, lines,16-18; AA, Vol. 3, p. 447-448). She testified that she was on a three-way phone call with her friend Crystal and Nasby. Nasby told her that Beasley was out of the L.A. Crazy Rider's gang. She also testified that she was beaten up by a Brittany Adams on August 1, 1998, and that Ms. Adams told her to keep her mouth shut about Nasby. (T.T. Vol. IV, page 22, lines 1-22; AA, Vol. 3, p. 449).
- Crystal Bradley was a member of the LA. Crazy Riders gang. She testified that on July 17, 1998, Nasby told her over the phone that he had killed Beasley because he was taking his clout. (T.T. Vol. IV, page 43, lines 4-8; AA, Vol. 3, p. 454). She further testified that she called Tanesha and told her what Nasby had just relayed over the phone. (T.T. Vol IV, page 48, lines 5-10; AA, Vol. 3, p. 455).
- Randall McPhail, crime scene analyst with the Las Vegas Metro Police Department, testified that he impounded a Browning style Ingles nine millimeter semi-automatic handgun and two empty magazines. He also impounded seven pairs of shoes from the room and three different brands of cigarettes; Kool, Benson & Hedges, and a no-name brand. He testified that no Winston brand cigarettes were found. (T.T. Vol IV. Page 74, lines 15-23, page 75, lines 14-24; AA, Vol. 3, p. 461). He also testified that no prints were recovered from the firearm and that there was no match made from the seven pairs of shoes to the footwear impressions at the scene. (T.T., Vol. IV, page 97, lines 1-19; AA, Vol. 3, p. 466).
- Fred Boyd, latent print examiner of the Las Vegas Metro Police Department, testified that he found no prints on the gun or on the magazine. (T.T. Vol. IV, page 116, lines 23-24, page 117, lines 1-7; AA. Vol. 3, p. 471). He also testified that the seven shoes did not match the footprints at the scene. Further, no other shoes were sought for testing, including all of the other co-defendants' shoes. (T.T. Vol. IV, page 136, lines 1-24; AA, Vol. 3, p. 476).
- James Buczek, a homicide detective with the Las Vegas Metro Police Department, arrested Nasby and testified that Nasby told him where the gun was in his home. (T.T., Vol. IV, page 153, lines 7-11; AA, Vol 3., p. 480). Nasby told the officer that he had purchased the gun

following Beasley's death from Sugar Bear. (T.T. Vol. IV, page 154, lines 19-21). He testified that DNA was run on the Winston Cigarettes that were recovered at the scene and that there was NO match to Tommie Burnside, Jotee Burnside, Brendan Nasby, Jeremiah Deskin or the victim Michael Beasley. (T.T. Vol. IV, page 161, lines 1-12; AA, Vol. 3, p. 482).

- Torrey Johnson, a criminalist who worked in the forensic laboratory for the Las Vegas Metro Police Department, testified that he worked in the firearm detail. Mr. Johnson testified that he could not say for sure that the casings were fired in the specific .22 caliber handgun that was retrieved from Nasby's home. However, his testimony was that the bullets from the victim's body were fired by the gun. (T.T. Vol V, pages 71, lines 21 & 22, page 72, Lines 1-2; AA, Vol. 3, p. 538).
- Tommie Burnside, a co-defendant, testified that his brother Jotee, Nasby, the victim, Deskin, and himself drove to the mountains. He testified that Beasley was shot and that he, his brother, and Deskin did not shoot Beasley. He also testified that on August 4, 1998, he gave a prior inconsistent statement implicating Sugar Bear as the shooter and as the person who planned to kill Beasley. (T.T. Vol. V, page 111, lines 12-14, T.T., Vol. V, page 110, lines 7-17; AA. Vol 3, p. 548).
- Jotee Burnside, a Co-defendant, testified that he traveled with his brother Tommie, and Deskin, to pick up Beasley at his home. (T.T. Vol V, page 121, lines 15-18; AA, Vol. 3, p. 550). He testified that the five of them, Nasby, him, his brother, Deskin, and the victim traveled to the desert. (T.T. Vol. V, page 122, lines 10-12; AA, Vol. 3, p. 551). He testified that he had given another version of the story to the police on August 4, 1998, in which he implicated Sugar Bear. He received a 12-30 month sentence for his involvement and had received parole for his participation in the conspiracy to commit murder. (T.T. Vol V, page 139, lines 9-18; AA, Vol. 3, p. 555).
- Brittany Adams, a member of the L.A. Crazy Riders testified that she was very good friends with the victim Beasley and that they would beat up people for each other. (T.T. Vol. V, page 152, lines 3-6; AA, Vol. 3, p. 558). She also testified that Nasby told her that Sugar

Bear killed Beasley with the assistance of Chrystal and Tanesha. (T.T. Vol. V, page 153, lines 21-23; AA, Vol. 3, p. 558). She testified that Nasby told her that Sugar Bear, Tanesha, and Chrystal went out in to the desert with Beasley and killed him and that Tanesha was blaming Nasby. (T.T. Vol V, page 155, lines 1-14; and page 156, lines 1-4; AA, Vol. 3, p. 559). She testified that upon Nasby's insistence, she went to Tanesha's house and beat her up. She also admitted lying to the police about the story Nasby told her and pretending that it was her that directly received the information. (T.T. Vol. V, page 162, lines 18-20; AA., Vol. 3, p. 561).

- John R. Holmes, an inmate from the Clark County Detention Center, who was arrested for an unrelated robbery with the use of a deadly weapon, testified that he spoke with Nasby while incarcerated, and Nasby admitted that he killed Beasley. (T.T. Vol. V, page 212 lines, 21-23; AA, Vol. 3, p. 573).
- Thomas Thowsen, a police officer with the Las Vegas Metro Police Department homicide section, testified that he was in charge of the crime scene investigation. As the investigation unfolded, Metro received a call from Tanesha Banks who told the police that Nasby was threatening her not to testify. Mr. Thowsen examined Tanesha's caller ID and identified that the call came from CCDC from the telephone banks right next to where Mr. Nasby was housed. (T.T. Vol. V, page 258, lines 1-10; AA, Vol. 3, 585).

### 2. <u>Defense Case</u>

Nasby's defense centered on his assertion that he was not present at the time of the murder. His defense focused on the fact that many witnesses had implicated Sugar Bear for the murder, then each one later changed their stories to implicate Brendan Nasby. The co-defendants all received favorable charging and sentencing in exchange for their testimony against Nasby. The only witness who did not change their story was Deskin. Deskin fled to California immediately following the murder. He implicated Nasby when he was arrested for murder.

Nasby had intended to call his former girl friend, Colleen, who is also the mother of his child. The prosecution showed Colleen a negative letter that was allegedly written by Nasby. Following this interference by the prosecution, Colleen never testified. To Nasby's surprise, his counsel called

no witnesses at the time of trial. This was decided unilaterally by his defense counsel. Nasby had also subpoenaed Crystal Sobrian, a potential alibi witness. Please see the affidavit of Crystal Sobrian attached hereto. Furthermore, Nasby's counsel prevented him from testifying at trial, despite his vehement requests.

### 3. The Verdict

The Jury ultimately concluded Defendant Nasby was guilty of Conspiracy to Commit Murder, and First Degree Murder with the Use of Deadly Weapon. At the subsequent penalty hearing, which began on November 29, 1999, the State presented the pre-sentence report of Nasby, which showed that he had no prior felony or misdemeanor convictions. The Court imposed a sentence of 48 to 120 months for the Conspiracy to Commit Murder charge and a sentence of two consecutive terms of life with the possibility of parole for the First Degree Murder With Use of A Deadly Weapon Count.

### 4. Direct Appeal/Previous Post-Conviction Relief

Nasby appealed his conviction to the Nevada Supreme Court. On February 7, 2001, the Court issued its Order of Affirmance. Appellant Nasby subsequently filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus and a Supplemental Points and Authorities to the Writ of Habeas Corpus before the District Court. In his petition, Nasby asserted claims of prosecutorial misconduct and trial error similar to those asserted in the instant appeal. Furthermore, Nasby asserted that trial and appellant counsel were ineffective. At an evidentiary hearing held on November 9, 2005, Nasby's counsel testified as follows:

Frederick Santacroce, Esq., Nasby's appellate counsel and one-half (½) of his trial counsel team, testified when he began working on Nasby's case, shortly before trial, he learned that a notice of alibi witness had been previously filed by Joseph Sciscento, Nasby's other counsel. (Reporter's Transcript of Evidentiary Hearing, November 9, 2005, "EHT," p. 6, lines 16-21; AA, Vol. 4, p. 669). Approximately one week prior to the start of trial, defense counsel learned that a letter had been intercepted by the jail where Nasby was housed. (EHT p. 7, lines 4-10; AA, Vol. 4, p. 670). Mr. Santacroce testified that the intercepted letter "indicated that the alibi was a concocted alibi story and there may have been some perjury

involved." (EHT, p. 7, lines 14-16; AA, Vol. 4, p. 670). Based upon this letter, defense counsel chose not to pursue the alibi witness defense because he felt that doing so would be suborning perjury. (EHT, p.7, lines 17-20; AA, Vol. 4, p. 670). Santacroce was unable to give testimony as to his efforts to investigate whether the "letter" was in fact an attempt by Nasby to concoct an alibi defense. Furthermore, Santacroce testified that he did not personally speak with any potential alibi witness involved in Nasby's case. (EHT, p. 12, lines 13-15, p. 13, line 1; AA, Vol. 4, p. 675-676). Santacroce testified that he did not personally speak with any potential witnesses because he believed that his private investigator had already spoken with these witnesses. (EHT, p. 13, lines 2-3; AA, Vol. 4, p. 676).

Joseph Sciscento, Nasby's primary trial counsel, testified that he felt Nasby's strongest defense centered around allegations by involved witnesses which stated that it was an individual nicknamed "Sugar Bear" who actually committed the crimes in question. (EHT, p. 24, lines 12-17; AA, Vol. 4, p. 687). Sciscento subsequently testified that, in his opinion, the alibi started to "fall apart." (EHT, p. 26, lines 10-12; AA, Vol. 4, p. 689). He further discussed a letter allegedly sent out from the jail which the District Attorney had intercepted and presented to him—a letter which showed that Nasby was allegedly attempting to set up the story for the alibi. (EHT, Id.). Sciscento testified that he felt that if he presented the alibi evidence and it had "fallen apart," then there would have been no believability whatsoever for the defendant. (EHT, p. 30, lines 1-7; AA, Vol. 4, p. 693). However, similar to Mr. Santacroce, Mr. Sciscento offered no testimony regarding any attempts to contact alibi witnesses after the interception of this letter; further, he offered no testimony regarding his investigation into any of the allegations surrounding this letter.

After further oral argument, the District Court denied Nasby's Petition on March 27, 2006. An order to that effect was filed on or about April 26, 2006. The instant appeal followed.

### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT VIOLATED PETITIONER'S RIGHTS UNDER THE FOURTH, FIFTH, SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I SECTION 8 OF THE NEVADA CONSTITUTION

Prosecutorial misconduct occurs when a prosecutor uses improper methods calculated to produce a wrongful conviction. *Berger v. U.S.*, 295 U.S. 78, 88 (1935).

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