## ORIGINAL

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

## ARGUMENT

I.

## **DEFENDANT'S VARIOUS CLAIMS OF PROSECUTORIAL** MISCONDUCT AND TRIAL COURT ERROR ARE NOT COGNIZABLE.

An appellant is procedurally barred from asserting claims in post-conviction habeas corpus proceedings if he could have raised the claims either at trial or in his direct appeal. NRS 34.810(1)(b)(2) provides that the court shall dismiss a petition if:

(b) The petitioner's conviction was the result of a trial and the grounds for the petition could have been:...(2) Raised in a direct appeal or a prior petition for a writ of habeas corpus or post-conviction relief;

See also Franklin v. State, 110 Nev. 750, 752, 877 P.2d 1058, 1059 (1994) (disapproved on other grounds by Thomas v. State, 115 Nev. 148, 979 P.2d 222 (1999)). Claims of prosecutorial misconduct are appropriate only in a direct appeal, and courts will not entertain them in post-conviction habeas corpus proceedings. Lara v. State, 120 Nev. 177, 179, 87 P. 3d 528, 529 (2004).

To overcome the procedural bar raised by failing to include arguments in the direct appeal, the Defendant must prove specific facts that 1) demonstrate good cause for Defendant's failure to present these claims in an earlier proceeding and 2) show that Defendant was actually prejudiced in the manner in which his trial and or direct appeal was conducted. NRS 34.810(3). A Defendant can show good cause only in those rare situations where a failure to entertain the issue would result in "a fundamental miscarriage of justice...resulting from a failure to entertain the claim." Hogan v. Warden, 109 Nev. 952, 959, 860 P. 2d 710, 715 (1993) (quoting McClesky v. Zant, 499 U.S. 467 (1991)). Further, beyond showing a mere possibility of prejudice, the Defendant must show that actual prejudice "worked to his actual and

substantial disadvantage, in affecting the state proceeding with error of constitutional dimensions." <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>United States v. Frady</u>, 456 U.S. 152, 170 (1982)). <u>See also Kimmel v. Warden</u>, 101 Nev. 6, 692 P.2d 1282 (1985); <u>Bolden v. State</u>, 99 Nev. 181, 659 P.2d 886 (1983).

Defendant asserts in his petition there was prosecutorial misconduct because the prosecutor: prevented a defense witness from testifying; improperly vouched for the credibility of a state witness; improperly referred to things not in evidence; misstated the law in closing argument; presented false testimony; led the Defendant to believe Mr. Von Lewis would be a witness; and placed a jail house informant in close proximity to Defendant. Appellant's Opening Brief pp 11-20. Defendant also asserts that there was trial court error because the court delayed ruling on a letter and improperly allowed the evidence of prior bad acts. Appellant's Opening Brief pp. 20-22. Both claims should have been raised in Defendant's direct appeal.<sup>1</sup>

Here, Defendant has not set forth any reason for failing to raise these issues in his direct appeal. As such, he has failed to meet his burden of proof to show good cause not to have raised these issues earlier. Therefore, Defendant's claims stated above are waived and should be dismissed.

II.

# DEFENDANT RECEIVED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL AND APPELLATE COUNSEL.

Defendant alleges that he received ineffective assistance of trial and appellate counsel. The Nevada Supreme Court has held that "claims of ineffective assistance of counsel must be reviewed under the 'reasonably effective assistance' standard

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Defendant raised five issues in his direct appeal: 1)that the stte used coerced testimony, 2) that there was no corroborating evidence, 3)that the trial court should have offered an instruction regarding accomplice testimony, 4) that the trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury regarding "willfulness, deliberation, and premeditation, and 5) that the State improperly referred to inadmissible evidence in the opening statement. This Court denied all five of Defendant's claims in its Order of Affirmance issued February 7, 2001. AA 0121-0127.

articulated by the U.S. Supreme Court in <u>Strickland</u><sup>2</sup>, requiring a defendant to show that counsel's assistance was 'deficient' and that the deficiency prejudiced the defense." <u>Bennett v. State</u>, 111 Nev. 1099, 1108, 901 P.2d 676, 682 (1995); <u>Kirksey v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 980, 987, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1996). <u>Strickland</u> laid out a two-pronged test to determine the merits of a defendant's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel:

First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction . . . resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable.

Id. at 687, 104 S.Ct. at 2064. In addition, Defendant must show that the representation of Defense counsel was not within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 106 S.Ct. 366 (1985). There is a presumption that trial counsel was effective and fully discharged their duties. Homick v. State, 112 Nev. 304, 310, 913 P.2d 1280, 1285 (1996), citing Davis v. State, 107 Nev. 600, 602, 817 P.2d 1169, 1170 (1991). "This presumption can only be overcome by strong and convincing proof to the contrary." Homick, 112 Nev. at 310, 913 P.2d at 1285.

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that all appeals must be "pursued in a manner meeting high standards of diligence, professionalism and competence." Burke v. State, 110 Nev. 1366, 1368, 887 P.2d 267, 268 (1994). In order to claim ineffective assistance of appellate counsel, the defendant must satisfy the two prong test set forth by Strickland. See Williams v. Collins, 16 F.3d 626, 635 (5th Cir. 1994); Hollenback v. United States, 987 F.2d 1272, 1275 (7th Cir. 1993); Heath v. Jones, 941

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

F.2d 1126, 1130 (11th Cir. 1991). Finally, in order to prove that appellate counsel's alleged error was prejudicial, the defendant must show that the omitted issue would have had a reasonable probability of success on appeal. See <u>Duhamel v. Collins</u>, 955 F.2d 962, 967 (5th Cir. 1992); <u>Heath v. Jones</u>, 941 F.2d, 1126, 1132 (11th Cir. 1991).

The defendant has the ultimate authority to make fundamental decisions regarding his case. <u>Jones v. Barnes</u>, 463 U.S. 745, 751, 103 S.Ct. 3308, 3312 (1983). However, the defendant does not have a constitutional right to "compel appointed counsel to press frivolous points requested by the client, if counsel, as a matter of professional judgment, decides not to present those points." Id. In reaching this conclusion, the Supreme Court has recognized the "importance of winnowing out weaker arguments on appeal and focusing on one central issue if possible, or at most on a few key issues." Id. at 751 752, 103 S.Ct. at 3313. In particular, a "brief that raises every colorable issue runs the risk of burying good arguments . . . in a verbal mound made up of strong and weak contentions." Id. at 753, 103 S.Ct. at 3313. The Court noted that, "for judges to second guess reasonable professional judgments and impose on appointed counsel a duty to raise every 'colorable' claim suggested by a client would disserve the very goal of vigorous and effective advocacy." Id. at 754, 103 S.Ct. at 3314. <u>Accord Hernandez v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 463, 465-468, P.3d 767, 768-770 (2001).

The role of a court in considering allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel is "not to pass upon the merits of the action not taken but to determine whether, under the particular facts and circumstances of the case, trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance." <u>Donovan v. State</u>, 94 Nev. 671, 675, 584 P.2d 708, 711 (1978), citing <u>Cooper v. Fitzharris</u>, 551 F.2d 1162, 1166 (9th Cir. 1977).

This analysis does not mean that the court should "second guess reasoned choices between trial tactics nor does it mean that defense counsel, to protect himself against allegations of inadequacy, must make every conceivable motion no matter

how remote the possibilities are of success." <u>Donovan</u>, 94 Nev. at 675, 584 P.2d at 711, citing <u>Cooper</u>, 551 F.2d at 1166. In essence, the court must "judge the reasonableness of counsel's challenged conduct on the facts of the particular case, viewed as of the time of counsel's conduct." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 690, 104 S.Ct. at 2066.

Even if a defendant can demonstrate that his counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, he must still demonstrate prejudice and show a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. McNelton v. State, 115 Nev. 396, 403, 990 P.2d 1263, 1268 (1999), citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id., citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-89, 694.

#### A. Defendant's Claims

Defendant argues that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to call any witnesses and failing to offer any evidence. The Nevada Supreme Court held in Thomas v. State, 120 Nev. 37, 83 P.3d 818 (2004), that allegations that counsel did not call any witnesses during the guilty phase did not state a claim for ineffective assistance of counsel. See also, State v. Love, 109 Nev. 1136, 865 P.2d 322 (1993)(holding that counsel's tactical decision not to call alibi witnesses at trial was made after adequate investigation and was based upon counsel's reasonable determination that damage to the defendant's case could be avoided). In addition, the Nevada Supreme Court has stated that it will not second guess counsel's trial tactics. Donovan, 94 Nev. at 675, 584 P.2d at 711. The decision of which witnesses to call is left to the professional judgment of trial counsel.

Furthermore, the Nevada Supreme Court has stated that a criminal defendant is not denied effective assistance of counsel when a defense attorney "refuses to cooperate with the defendant in presenting perjured testimony. <u>Young v. Ninth Judicial District Court</u>, 107 Nev. 642, 649, 818 P.2d 844, 848 (1991) (adopting <u>Nix v.</u>

Whiteside, 475 U.S. 157 (1986). NRS 199.120 states that anybody who suborns perjury shall be guilty of a category D felony.

In the present case, the State was able to recover information which indicated that Defendant was coaching witnesses with false testimony. Two of these exhibits were presented in Defendant's case. AA Vol. 1, p. 0059-0084. Additionally, defense counsel was notified of Defendant's attempts to suborn perjury. AA Vol. 4, pp. 0670:4-20; 0671:14-24; 0672:7-25; 0689:10-14; 0690:14-25; 0692:21-0693:16. As such, defense counsel was prohibited from putting on witnesses that he knew would commit perjury. As defense counsel had originally filed a list of witnesses, and as Defendant states that his case was proceeding on an alibi defense, defense counsel cannot be deemed ineffective under the Strickland standards for failing to present witnesses whom he knew would perjure themselves. As it is the Defendant's own actions which required that his counsel proceeded without calling his alibi witnesses, Defendant cannot now claim that counsel was ineffective.

Defendant asserts that trial counsel (Joseph Sciscento) had a conflict of interest for accepting employment at the Special Public Defender's Office. At Defendant's sentencing on November 29, 1999, counsel informed the court that he thought there would be a conflict of interest for the appeal and the court appointed new counsel. However, no conflict of interest existed during trial. Mr. Sciscento had an agreement with the Special Public Defender's Office that he would be allowed to finish up his pending cases. AA Vol. 4, p. 0685. Mr. Sciscento was effectively screened from the Special Public Defender's Office during his representation of Defendant. AA Vol. 4, p. 0686:2-6. Mr. Sciscento did not discuss Defendant case with anyone from the Special Public Defender's Office; no one in the Special Public Defender's Office had access to Mr. Sciscento's notes or files concerning the Defendant; none of the Special Public Defender's resources were used by Mr. Sciscento in the preparation of Defendant's case; and all preparation for Defendant's case was done at Mr. Sciscento's prior office. AA Vol. 4, p. 0685-0686. Therefore, no conflict of interest

existed in the representation of Defendant.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Furthermore, affiliation with the Special Public Defender's Office while the case was pending does not automatically constitute a legal conflict. A court is granted broad discretion in determining whether an attorney should be disqualified from a case. Brown v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct., 116 Nev. 1200, 1205, 14 P.3d 1266, 1270 (2000); Collier v. Legakes, 98 Nev. 307, 646 P.2d 1219 (1982). Screening, also referred to as an ethical wall or Chinese wall, is appropriate to prevent confidential information from the quarantined attorney to the other members of the law firm or visa versa. Analytica, Inc. v. NPD Research, Inc., 708 F.2d 1263 (7th Cir. 1983). In determining whether a conflict exists, a court looks to whether counsel's functions "could be carried out impartially and without breach of any privileged communication." Collier, 98 Nev. at 310, 646 P.2d at 1221. Contrary to Defendant's contention, merely working for the Special Public Defender's Office does not equate to a conflict of interest. Mr. Sciscento stated that he was effectively screened from the Special Public Defender's Office. Defendant has failed to show that counsel's representation was carried out impartially or that any breach of privileged communication occurred from counsel's employment with the Special Public Defender's Office.

Defendant contends that counsel failed to sufficiently investigate Defendant's case. Again, Defendant merely makes an unsupported bare allegation that counsel failed to sufficiently investigate and Defendant re-alleges that counsel failed to call any witnesses. Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984). Defendant fails to show what additional facts could have been discovered upon additional investigation. Furthermore, Defendant has not met the prejudice prong of Strickland, because Defendant has not shown that but for the alleged error, the outcome of the trial would have been different.

Defendant contends that counsel was ineffective for failing to make several objections at trial. The Nevada Supreme Court has held it will not second guess

counsel's trial tactics. <u>Donovan</u>, 94 Nev. at 675, 584 P.2d at 711. If each non-objection was analyzed on appeal, defense counsel would be forced, in order to protect himself, to make every conceivable motion and objection no matter how remote the possibilities were of success. <u>Id.</u> Which objections to raise or not to raise at trial are left to the professional judgment of counsel and should not be second-guessed. <u>Jones</u>, 463 U.S. at 751. Therefore, trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to raise every objection at trial.

Next, Defendant asserts that counsel did not permit Defendant to testify at trial. However, Defendant fails to cite to any inference in the record which indicates that counsel refused to allow Defendant to testify. Defendant is merely alleging, with the benefit of hindsight, that he wanted to testify. "Hindsight speculation regarding a tactical decision is not tantamount to proof that the result of the trial was unreliable or that the trial was fundamentally unfair." State v. Edward, 109 Nev. 1136, 1145, 865 P.2d 322, 328 (1993).

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